IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERRY STOKES, :

Appellant, :

v. : CASE NO. 71,485

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

______:

INTIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ALC: 1

WILLIAM C. MCLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #201170 POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904)488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

On December 17, 1986, a Madison County grand jury returned an indictment charging Jerry Stokes with the first degree murder of Cilla B. Taylor and with armed robbery. (R 1140-1141) Stokes pleaded not guilty and proceeded to a jury trial. The jury found him guilty as charged (R 1356) and, after hearing additional evidence, recommended a death sentence for the murder.(R 1357) Circuit Judge L. Arthur Lawrence adjudged Stokes guilty and sentenced him to death for the murder and life for the armed robbery. (R 1402-1417)

In support of the death sentence, Judge Lawrence found two aggravating circumstances: (1) that the homicide occurred during the commission of a robbery; and (2) that the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.(R 1415-1416) The court found no mitigating circumstances.(R 1416)

Stokes filed a motion for new trial (R 1387-1389), an amended motion for new trial (R 1428-1429) and a motion to correct sentence for the robbery because it was imposed without a sentencing guidelines scoresheet.(R 1426-1427) The court denied the motion for new trial (R 1444) and granted the motion to correct the robbery sentence.(R 1399) First stating that the guidelines did not adequately cover capital murder, the court used a Category One scoresheet instead of the robbery category Category Three. (R 1459-1470) The court scored the

capital murder as a life felony primary offense with the robbery as an additional one at sentencing. (R 1412) Again, sentencing Stokes to life for the robbery, the court departed from the sentencing guidelines. (R 1400, 1410-1412) The court filed two reasons for departing: (1) that the guidelines did not sufficiently cover capital murder, and (2) that Stokes was later convicted of two felonies which were not scoreable.(R 1400)

Stokes timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court. (R 1443)

Facts -- Guilt Phase

Cilla B. Taylor owned and operated a small country store in Madison County. (R 476-477) She lived alone in her home adjacent to the store and operated the store without assistance. (R 476-477) Approximately two minutes after 9:00 a.m. on September 22, 1986, a customer, Emily Carver, found Taylor dead on the floor behind the counter in the store. (R 476-483) Taylor had suffered a .22 caliber gunshot wound to the head. (R 717-724) According to the medical examiner, Dr. Peter Lipkovic, the bullet entered between the left side of the nose and the cheek. (R 717-719) Because of the dense, oval-shaped powder burn, Lipkovic concluded that the barrel was in partial contact with the skin at the time of the shot. (R 718-719) bullet travelled upward and toward the right side before lodging in the front part of the brain. (R 719) Brain injury caused immediate unconsciousness and death within two seconds. (R **718-722**)

Investigation revealed some physical evidence. Crime scene technicians photographed recently made tire tracks located in the dirt parking area in the front of the store. (R 507-512, 533-535) These ran parallel with the highway and appeared to have been made by tires with little tread remaining. (R 509-511) Tennis shoe tracks were also found but these proved to have been made by an observer at the scene. (R 512-513) Latent fingerprints were found inside the store and preserved. (R 536-538) Finally, the medical examiner recovered a badly mushroomed .22 caliber bullet from the body. (R 720-721)

A long time customer at Taylor's store, Robert Wright, said he stopped at the store at 7:30 on the morning of the homicide. (R 450) He paid her for a purchase he made on credit the previous day with three one dollar bills. (R 450-451) Taylor placed the bills under the counter where she customarily kept some money since she had no cash register. (R 451) Wright said Taylor also kept money in another location in the store. (R 452) Two other customers testified that Taylor kept money in a cigar box and a metal pan underneath the counter as well as a third location away from the counter.(R 476, 661-662) Karen Cooper, a crime scene technician, examined the cigar box and pan. (R 812) She found no bills in the containers, but the cigar box contained in excess of \$3.00 in coins. (R 812-815) In another part of the store, away from the public area but accessible from it, Cooper found a bubble gum container on a counter which contained \$768.00 in currency. (R 813-816) money included 88 one dollar bills. (R 816)

William Brown testified he drove passed Taylor's store just after 8:00 a.m. on September 22. (R 454-456) He worked about a mile beyond the store and was a little late that morning. (R 456) Although he drove passed in excess of 60 miles an hour, Brown managed a two second observation of a car parked at the store. (R 465) He was a car enthusiast and noticed details about them. (R 457) He described this one as a Pontiac Grand Prix, two-door, painted blue with a white vinyl top. (R 456-457) The car had distinctive wire wheel covers because it appeared as if the center emblems were missing. (R 457) Brown told Investigator Leonard Harris about seeing the car. (R 459) Over objection, Harris testified to the information Brown gave him in that interview which was consistent with Brown's testimony with some added details. (R 496-499) Harris said Brown told him he saw a 1974 to 1976 model Grand Prix, with faded, medium blue paint and a white half top that was either painted or vinyl. (R 497) The car had nonstandard wheel covers with missing center emblems. (R 497) Additionally, Harris said that Brown told him that the car had a CB antenna in the middle of the trunk. (R 497) Again over objection, Brown's employer, Dewayne Leslie, was also permitted to testify to the description as Brown related it to him. (R 665-666) He said Brown told him that the car was an older Grand Prix painted blue with a white top. (R 666) Brown further said the car had a CB antenna and unusual hub caps without anything in the center. (R 666) Brown and Leslie accompanied Harris to view 15 to 20 suspected vehicles. (R 459-460, 498) For various

reasons, Brown eliminated these cars. (R 459-460, 498) Although not revealed to the jury, FDLE Special Agent Wayne Bass
hypnotized Brown on October 17, 1986, in an effort to gain more
details to aid the investigation. (R 336-361)

On October 23, 1986, Detective Logan Henderson of the Lowndes County Sheriff's Department in Valdosta, Georgia, interviewed Jerry Stokes in an investigation unrelated to the homicide. (R 514-525, 546-547) Stokes said that he owned a brown Toyota automobile and that he had a pistol and a shotgun in that car. (R 576) Henderson obtained a search warrant for the Toyota which was actually registered to Stokes sister, Elizabeth McFarland. (R 577, 623) He executed the warrant at the residence where Stokes' mother, sister and other family members lived. (R 577-578) Stokes' .22 caliber pistol was seized. (R 578-579) Parked next to the Toyota at the same address, Henderson noticed a blue and white Grand Prix. (R 580) The car belonged to Garfield Stokes, Jerry Stokes' brother. (R 586, 624) Knowing that Detective Leonard Harris was looking for such a car, Henderson had Harris notified. (R 580)

The following day, October 24, 1986, Harris accompanied
Brown to view the Grand Prix in Valdosta. (R 461, 590) Brown's
employer, Dewayne Leslie, and Chief Deputy James Bunting were
also present. (R 460-461, 590-592, 668-669, 673-675) They
viewed the car while it was still parked at the residence. (R
590) Brown identified the car as the one he saw in front of
the store. (R 461-464) He testified he was sure of his identification because of the faded blue paint and the wire wheel

covers which had the center emblem painted over. (R 462-464) Harris testified that upon seeing the car, Brown said, "That looks like the vehicle. The only thing I don't remember is the tinted windows on the vehicle.'' (R 590-591) Leslie testified, over objection, that Brown looked at the car and identified it as the car he had seen at Taylor's store. (R 668-669) Bunting testified, over objection, that when Brown saw the car, he said the color, year and wheel covers were right. (R 675) Bunting also heard Brown say, "I never thought I would see that car again." (R 675) Finally, in Bunting's presence, Brown said to Leslie, "I told you the hub caps were different." (R 675) Stokes was not allowed to cross-examine Brown on the fact that he had been hypnotized six days before identifying this car and had given inconsistent descriptions of the car he saw at the store during the hypnotic session. (R 470-473)

The tires on Garfield Stokes' car were badly worn. (R 589, 855) Badly worn tires made the tracks found at the scene. (R 509) Mary Lynn Hinson, a microanalyst, compared the photographs of the tracks with the tires from the car. (R 850-855) She concluded that the tires could have made the tracks, but she could not state those tires and no others were responsible. (R 855-863)

David Williams, a firearms expert, examined Stokes pistol.

(R 817-821) The gun is a single-action, .22 caliber revolver in working condition.(R 821-826) However, he found the weapon to be unsafe and subject to accidental discharge. (R 826, 842-847) A single-action revolver requires that the hammer be

cocked before the gun is fired by pulling the trigger. (R 824-825) Once the hammer is cocked on this pistol, only one pound of pressure on the trigger is necessary to fire it. (R 825-826) Williams said this is a dangerously light trigger pull, and the weapon could accidentally fire without pulling the trigger. (R 826, 842-844) If the person holding the gun were startled or made a sudden movement, the pistol could accidentally fire. (R 843-844) The same would occur if there were a blow to the gun. (R 844) Further limiting the safety of the pistol is the fact that it does not have a transfer bar safety mechanism. (R 844-845) These devices prevent accidental firing if the hammer should fall without the trigger pulled to the rear. (R 845) William's fired the pistol and found that the barrel has six lands and grooves with a right hand twist. (R 832-833) He examined the bullet removed from the victim and concluded that it was fired from a gun with a similar barrel configuration. (R 833-834) Stokes' pistol could have fired the bullet, but any of the millions of other .22 caliber firearms with the same type barrels could have also fired it. (R837-841)

At 2:30 p.m. on October 24, James Bunting and Leonard Harris interviewed Stokes in the jail in Valdosta. (R 596-598, 638-641) Bunting first told Stokes about some of the evidence in the case. (R 678-679) He mentioned that he had Stokes' guns and that shoe and tire tracks were found at the scene. (R 679) Stokes then said that the .22 caliber pistol May have shot the lady. (R 679-680) Stokes explained that he had loaned the gun

to Willie Thomas a month earlier. (R 680) Thomas kept the gun for overnight. (R 680) When he returned the firearm, Thomas told Stokes that he had shot a woman with it and did not know how badly he hurt her. (R 680) Thomas offered to buy the gun, but Stokes refused to sell. (R 680) Thomas advised Stokes to dispose of the pistol. (R 680) Stokes said Thomas was a black male who lived in Valdosta and looked enough like himself to be considered a twin brother. (R 681) Bunting testified that Jerry Stokes and his two brothers, Garfield and Roosevelt, are very similar in appearance. (R 698-699) Local law enforcement officers were unable to locate Willie Thomas. (R 681) Bunting also testified that Stokes said he had driven his brother's Grand Prix on one occasion through Madison County to Perry. (R 680) Stokes said he learned about the homicide from his brother who read an article in the newspaper. (R 681)

During the evening of October 24, FDLE Agent Robert Kinsey and Leonard Harris conducted a second interview of Stokes. (R 596-599, 702-712, 736-738) Throughout the interview, Stokes contended that the investigators had the wrong man. (R 802) He again said that he had loaned his pistol to Willie Thomas. (R 745-748) However, he said Thomas borrowed the gun after the murder, not before it occurred. (R 768-769) Stokes told Kinsey that he had been living in Ohio, but he had moved back home to Valdosta in September 1986. (R 740-741, 790-792) Although registered in his sister's name, Stokes had purchased the Toyota before moving to Ohio. (R 742, 795) While he was in Ohio, his sister had use of the car. (R 795) Several other

family members and friends also had access and use of the car. (R 795) Garfield Stokes' blue and white Grand Prix was his second car, and he loaned it to his mother, sister, girlfriend and others. (R 743, 797) Jerry Stokes said he drove his brother's Grand Prix only once to Perry to visit Rev. Dimlet. (R 743-744) His sister, Elizabeth McFarland accompanied him. (R 743) Stokes said he was familiar with Taylor's store and had made a purchase there at least once. (R 749-759, 792-794) He passed by the store on his way to Perry and a couple of other times when taking his sister to work at a truckstop on the same highway. (R 792-794) When asked if the tire tracks in front of the store could have been made by his brother's Grand Prix, Stokes speculated that his brother could have loaned the car to someone who drove it there, perhaps Willie Thomas. (R 748) Even though the tennis shoe tracks found at the scene were matched to someone else (R 801-802), Kinsey asked Stokes Stokes again speculated that someone could have about them. had access to them since he sometimes left them in his brother's car. (R 749, 800) The latent fingerprints found in the store did not match Stokes' prints. (R 809-811) However, Kinsey asked Stokes to explain how his prints might be in the Stokes said the only possibility is that they were left during his one visit to the store to make a purchase. (R 749 - 750)

Stokes allegedly made a statement to an inmate trustee in the jail in Valdosta. (R 872-893) Lowell Woodson testified that he was in a holding cell with Stokes on October 23,

waiting to see a doctor. (R 874) During their conversation, Stokes asked him to make a telephone call to his brother, Garfield. (R 875) He wanted Woodson to tell his brother to get rid of the tires from his car or the whole car. (R 875) According to Woodson, Stokes told him there had been a robbery, a lady was shot and the police had his gun. (R 875) Woodson asked where the lady had been shot, and Stokes pointed to his face. (R 875-876) Stokes never said that he shot the woman. (R 881-883) Woodson did not make the call because a detention officer, Alvin Lamar, saw him talking to Stokes and told him not call. (R 876, 898-900)

After Stokes was incarcerated in the Madison County Jail, he allegedly made a statement to Investigator Harris. (R 611-612) Stokes asked Harris about securing the return of some tennis shoes which had been seized from him. (R 611) Harris said he could not get them until after the trial via a court order. (R 611) Stokes allegedly said, "I don't know why you want those shoes. I wasn't wearing them when" (R 611) Stokes did not finish this statement, and his conversation with Harris ended. (R 612)

Jerry Stokes testified in his defense at trial. (R 942)
He denied ever making a statement of any kind to Lowell
Woodson. (R 942-943) He also denied portions of the statements
he allegedly made to Deputy Bunting and Agent Kinsey. (R
944-966) Stokes testified that he had never been inside
Taylor's store and that he never gave a description of the
store to the investigators. (R 946-964) He admitted owning the

.22 caliber pistol and stating that he loaned it to Willie Thomas before the murder. (R 944-945) However, Stokes denied telling Bunting that Thomas told him that he had shot a woman with the pistol. (R 946) Stokes also said that he had never driven his brother's Grand Prix. (R 946-947)

Motion To Preclude William Brown's Testimony

The trial court heard a motion in limine to exclude William Brown's testimony about the identification of the Grand Prix automobile. (R 304-416) Brown had been hypnotized in an effort to gain more identification details just six days before making the identification of Garfield Stokes' car. (R 311-312) At the pretrial hearing, the court received testimony about the identification procedures and the hypnotic session. (R 304-417) Brown admitted that the hypnosis helped him remember and refreshed his recollection of the car he saw. (R 393-394) He said had seen the car at the store for only two seconds as he drove passed at over 60 miles an hour. (R 392-393) However, he denied that the hypnotic session assisted him in the later identification of Garfield Stokes' car. (R 403)

Brown's description of the car while under hypnosis was different than his original description and the characteristics of Garfield Stokes' car. Before being hypnotized, Brown described the car he saw as a faded blue, older model Grand Prix with a white, painted or vinyl top. (R 309-310, 319-322, 369) The car had a CB antenna and wire wheel covers which were not standard equipment. (R 309-310, 319-322, 369) The wheel covers were also unusual since they appeared to have the center

emblem missing. (R 309-310, 319-322, 369) While hypnotized, Brown described the car as a faded blue Grand Prix with a white vinyl top and a CB antenna on the middle of the trunk. (R 354-356) He also described unusual wire wheel covers, white wall tires and six vertical lines through the taillights. (R 355-557) Brown described a Florida license tag with the numbers 286 followed with three letters one of which was "Z." (R 358-360) He noticed no bumper stickers on the car. (R 356) Garfield Stokes' car was an older model, faded blue Grand Prix with a white vinyl top. (R 314-318) The car also had wire wheel covers with the center emblems painted over (R 381) There was no CB antenna, but a mark on the trunk could have been made by a magnetic antenna mount. (R 318) The windows were tinted which Brown did not remember at all. (R 316, 373, 590-591) The taillights did not have vertical lines. (R 314-318) And, finally, the license tag was from Georgia with the number HZY 821. (R 317)

The trial court ruled that evidence of the hypnotic session was inadmissible. (R 415) Neither side was permitted to present evidence of Brown's having been hypnotized or of any of the descriptions and information revealed during that session. (R 415) However, the State was allowed to present evidence of Brown's identification of Garfield Stokes' car, even though it occurred after Brown had been hypnotized. (R 415-416) Stokes was not permitted to cross-examine or otherwise impeach Brown with the inconsistent description of the car he gave while under hypnosis. Furthermore, Stokes was

precluded from showing the impact hypnosis may have had in the identification. (R 415-416, 470-473)

Jury Selection

Jerry Stokes' jury was comprised of ten whites and two blacks. (R 419-420) One of the two alternate jurors was black. (R 420) The prosecutor used six of seven peremptory challenges on black prospective jurors. (R 420) He challenged four black jurors for cause. (R 258) On several occasions, Stokes objected and argued that a prima facie case of a likelihood of racial discrimination had been established. (R 95, 130-131, 150-152, 205-208, 215-216, 223-224, 258-259) Each time, the trial court ruled that the threshold had not been met and that the prosecutor did not have the burden to demonstrate race-neutral reasons for the peremptory challenges. (R 95, 131, 152, 208, 216, 224, Although the prosecutor did volunteer reasons for 258-259) excusing two jurors, the court did not require it and made no effort to evaluate whether the reasons given were race-neutral. (R 205-207, 223-224) No reasons were offered for the remaining four challenges.

Jury Instructions -- Guilt Phase

The court instructed the jury on first degree premeditated murder and felony murder with robbery as the underlying felony. (R 1027-1032) Instructions on lesser offenses were given for the murder charge, but none were given for the armed robbery. (R 1032-1037, 1044) During the jury instruction charge conference, held in chambers, Jerry Stokes' lawyer waived instructions on any lesser offenses for the armed robbery charge. (R

929) The court did not inquire of Stokes' wishes concerning lesser offenses, and Stokes did not personally waive the instructions. (R 929) Counsel told the jury that there were no lesser offenses for the armed robbery (R 975), and the court's instructions omitted all references to lesser offenses for the robbery. (R 1034-1037, 1044)

Penalty Phase And Sentencing

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