# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

JERRY STOKES,

Appellant,

JUN 27 1988

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Web Ch CASE NO. 71,485

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MADISON COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

EDWARD C. HILL, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #238041

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) **488-0600** 

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

####

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

4. William Brown was a State witness whose observations were critical in leading the police to the defendant but only one small portion of the evidence at trial. His statements to the

- 4 -

police were admissible as they were not hearsay or if hearsay, fell within exceptions to the hearsay rule.

5. The State's circumstantial evidence was sufficient to prove Appellant was the perpetrator of the crimes. Appellant's inculpatory statements, his inconsistent exculpatory statements, and the physical evidence, all link him to the crime.

6. The trial court properly instructed the jury on robbery as an underlying felony. Sufficient evidence exists in the record to establish a robbery took place.

7. A personal waiver of lesser included offenses is not required for non capital offenses. Further, there is no requirement for instructions on lesser included offenses which are not supported by the evidence.

8. The prosecutor properly questioned the defense witness as to the basis of her opinion. Further, the trial court gave an apropriate curative instruction, especially in light of the fact that the Appellant did not want the facts corrected.

9. Appellant's death sentence is appropriate because two valid aggravating factors and no mitigating factors exist.

10. Appellant's deth sentence is appropriate because of the execution style murder and the heightened premeditation of using a weapon that must be cocked prior to firing.

- 5 -

11. The trial court properly instructed the jury as to its advisory role and did not diminish the role of the jury in the sentencing process.

12. In sentencing the Appellant for robbery, the trial court departed from the recommended range based on the capital conviction. This is a valid reason for departure and the Appellant suffered no harm by the use of the wrong scoresheet.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

# THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT NO PRIMA FACIE SHOWING OF RACIAL DISCRIMI-NATION OCCURRED.

The Appellant alleges that the jurors were excluded for racial reasons. He is wrong.

A careful look at the record supports the State's position that Appellant's allegations are merely trial counsel's attempts to misuse the <u>Neil v. State</u>, **457** So.2d **481** (Fla. **1984**) and <u>State</u> <u>v. Slappy</u>, 13 F.L.W. **184** (Fla. **1988**) decisions. Trial counsel's invocation of these decisions was not designed to prevent racial discrimination in jury selections, but to deprive the Appellee from the lawful exercise of his peremptory challenges.

First, all references to jurors challenged for cause should be struck from Appellant's brief on this issue. The <u>Neil</u> line of cases applies to peremptory challenges only. Any reference to cause challenges are an attempt to mix apples and oranges and make the numbers look better, such obvious ploys should not be condoned.

Appellee used seven peremptory challenges. Six of the seven persons who were excused were black (R 420). Appellee had available at least ten peremptory challenges in this case, Rule 3.350, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, but did not use three

- 7 -

of them. If the prosecutor had been removing individuals for racial reasons he could have removed all the black jury members. He did not because he was not excluding for racial reasons and the jury contained two black members and one black alternate (R 420).

Appellant asserts that the State gave reasons for excluding only two of the six excused blacks. He is wrong.

Mr. Robinson was the first black juror peremptory excused. He was twice challenged for cause (R 50, 62); however, the cause challenge was denied (R 63). The reasons were stated by Mr. Blair (R 62) and had support in the record: his views on the death penalty (R 50), his family relationship with the defendant (R 13), his desire not to sit in judgment (R 14, 55, 56). All reasons were race neutral and supported by the record.

was Simmons also peremptorily excused. Like Mr. Mr. Robinson, the State moved to excuse him for cause (R 256, 257). The motion was denied (R 257). The State moved to exclude him for cause because he said he was opposed to the death penalty (R 251) and did not believe he could impose the death penalty even if the law required it (R 252). Further, Mr. Blair indicated that he did feel Neil required him to announce reason "other than already obvious in the record and articulated in my challenge for cause." (R 258). The reasons were race neutral and supported by the record.

- 8 -

The State also peremptorily excused Ms. Aiken (R 205). Mr. Blair stated, "This is perhaps the first juror where there are no apparent reasons on the record," and gave his reasons: her unsureness about sitting in judgment (R 124), combined with the fact that she did not make eye contact with him or Mr. Hunt, the defense attorney, during the entire voir dire process (R 207). Argument was had (R 207, 208) and the defense motion denied (R 208).

The State also peremptorily excluded Ms. Roberson (R 223). Mr. Blair informed the court of information he had which a local black police officer had provided about the juror. The information was that "they (the family) were always into something bad." (R 223). The reason is race neutral and valid. <u>Tillman v. State</u>, **13** F.L.W. **194** (Fla. 1988).

The State also excused Ms. Yulee (R 150). How obvious was the reason? The defense attorney placed the reason on the record in his argument when he said: "She hasn't expressed an opinion that would cause her to be challenged for cause. She does have some reservation about the death penalty." (R 151). Reservations about the death penalty, indeed, When questioned about the death penalty the following took place:

MR. BLAIR: Mrs. Yulee, I saw you sort of roll your eyes when I asked the

- 9 -

question there. How do you feel about the death penalty?

MRS. YULEE: I don't like it. (R 139).

She did say she could vote to impose it <u>if everybody else was in</u> <u>favor of it.</u> (R 140). In response to the <u>Neil</u> challenge, Mr. Blair said that the reason for the challenge was demonstrated by the record (R 152) and indeed, it is.

other black juror excused by Mr. The Blair was Mr. Robinson. Mr. Robinson was a friend and associate of Leroy Gillyard (R 81), who was to be a State witness in the case. Mr. Gillyard was not your ordinary State witness. He was an incarcerated witness to whom the Appellant made incriminating statements to. Various motions had been filed regarding Mr. Gillyard's testimony including motions to suppress (R 1320, 1321), motions to prohibit the State Attorney from mentioning Gillyard's statements in opening argument (R 417), and motions to transport incarcerated defense witnesses to challenge Gillyard's These included a witness named Robinson. credibility. Further, there were allegations of threats between Gillyard's sister and the Appellant (R 1320, 1321) and the motions to suppress the statements were still pending at this time. For the State not to excuse Robinson was to invite or introduce error and to risk tainting the jury.

The State used its seventh peremptory challenge against Ms. Terrell, a white female (R 274, 275), who expressed reservations

- 10 -

about the death penalty but stated under appropriate circumstances she could vote for it (R 102). Excusing this juror shows that the State's excusal of the other jurors for the same reason was not pretextual.

The purpose of the <u>Neil - Slappy</u> procedures is to ensure that the reasons for peremptory challenges are in the record. In this case, the prosecutor's reasons are in the record and obvious for all but two jurors and for those he placed the reasons in the record. Mr. Blair's reasons were race neutral; (1) friendship with a witness, (2) opposition to the death penalty, (3) involvement in crime, (4) equivocal responses combined with hostile body language. Mr. Blair's reasons are supported by the record and the existence of the record support was not challenged by trial counsel.

The trial court listened to counsel articulate arguments regarding this issue and then ruled. Appellant's trial counsel recognized the specious nature of his own arguments regarding racial discrimination in the jury selection when, with the first juror challenged (R 92), Mr Johnson, counsel noted "You have to start somewhere.'' And with Ms. Yulee he even articulated the race netural reason for excusal, her opposition to the death penalty (R 151). Appellant is arguing for a standard that would convert the State's peremptory challenges into challenges for cause; such is not the rule of <u>Neil</u> or <u>Slappy</u> and such a result is not warranted.

No racial discrimination occurred and the trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

#### ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING WILLIAM BROWN TO TESTIFY REGARDING HIS IDENTIFICATION OF THE GRAND PRIX AUTOMOBILE.

Appellee asserts that <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 455 So.2d **330** (Fla. 1984) (Bundy I), controls this case, not <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 471 So.2d **9** (Fla. 1985) (Bundy 11). In <u>Bundy</u> I this Court found that a witness's identification of the fleeing assailant of three sorority sisters was not tainted by the hypnosis. The court recognized that the session did not change the way the witness recalled the events, and any suggestiveness was without significance since the defendant was not a suspect at the time.

The issue is not the use of tainted testimony obtained by the use of suggestions or unreliable hypnosis (Compare <u>Bundy</u> II). Rather the issue presented here is whether a witness who gave a description of an automobile, prior to being hypnotized, should be allowed to testify about his subsequent identification of a vehicle discovered by police investigation using only the <u>initial</u> description given by that witness.

The answer to this inquiry should be yes. Just as in <u>Bundy</u> I, this case involves a pre-hypnosis identification and, just as in <u>Bundy</u> I, the witness testified that he was not relying on details uncovered during the hypnotic session in making the identification. In the instant case the record shows that the original description did not change; and that the details added during hypnosis (a Florida tag, 28G 2, and vertical lines in the tail lights) (R 415), could not have played a part in the identification because the car found by the police did not have those characteristics.

Since the identified vehicle did not have the hypnotically suggested characteristics, it cannot be said that the identification was based on the hypnotically recalled facts. As in <u>Bundy</u> I, the witness said the identification was based on his initial memory (R 403) and the hypnosis details played no part in the identification (R 391, 392). Therefore no error occurred.

Assuming arguendo, that an error occurred it was harmless. Rule 924.33, Florida Statutes. The Georgia police were operating under the initial description of the vehicle given by Mr. Brown. They focused in on the defendant without any information from the hypnotic session (R 311,312, 514, 525, 546, 580). Likewise, the defendant in his own statements, admitted the gun was used by Willie B. Thomas to commit a shooting in Florida (R 680) and that the car could have been involved in this crime (R 748). Thus, the testimony of witness Brown was at best cumulative of Appellant's own admissions.

Finally, suppressing the post-hypnotic identification would not have resulted in the suppression of the critical facts that the defendant had access to a vehicle fitting the description, a

- 14 -

vehicle whose tires matched the tire marks left at the crime scene, and a vehicle which the Appellant admitted could have been used to commit the crime (R 679-680) and a vehicle he tried to get rid of (R 875).

In summary, the identification of the car was harmless (1) as the linking of the car to the crime was admitted by the defendant; and (2) the identification of the car was based on initial descriptions of Mr. Brown, and the identification did not directly implicate the Appellant. It only established one circumstance to be considered by the jury.

Appellee requests this Court affirm the ruling of the trial court admitting the identification as no error was committed, or if error exists, find it harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN LIMITING APPELLANT'S CROSS-EXAMINATION BY PRE-CLUDING THE USE OF EVIDENCE FROM THE HYPNOTIC SESSION.

Appellant argued in his motion to preclude the testimony that under <u>Bundy</u> II this testimony was unreliable and had no probative value and that Mr. Brown was incompetent to testify (R **409).** Based on that argument, he won. If the testimony was not reliable for direct examination it does not change its coat for cross-examination purposes, The testimony was unreliable and properly prohibited.

Appellant argues that he was deprived of the fundamental right of cross-examination by the court's refusal to allow him to use inconsistent details given by Brown under hypnosis to impeach him. He argues that the trial court's action violated his right by applying a per se exclusionary rule of the type condemned by Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. \_\_, 97 L.Ed.2d 37 (1987).

In <u>Rock supra</u>, the defendant could not remember the events of the day of the crime. In order to improve her recall hypnosis was used. The trial court, by excluding her testimony (which had been enhanced by hypnosis), effectively precluded her from raising a defense at all. The United States Supreme Court's reversed holding that Arkansas' procedural rule could not be applied to preclude a defendant from testifying to matters critical to her defense, Florida law is in accord with <u>Rock</u> on this point as this Court has previously ruled in <u>Coxwell v. State</u>, 361 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1978), that the exclusion of evidence, which directly affects the defendant's ability to present a defense, was error.

The <u>Rock</u> and <u>Coxwell</u> cases are factually distinguishable from the instant case. The defendant in this case was not precluded from testifying or raising a defense. He was not denied the right to cross-examine the witness who described the vehicle. In fact, he established on cross-examination: (1) the limited opportunity of the witness to view the vehicle; (2) the fact that the witness's initial description was incomplete; and (3) that the witness did not remember seeing tinted windows on the car at the crime scene (R 465).

It is axiomatic that cross-examination, although essential to the trial process, can be limited. <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). The situation in the instant case is very similar to the situation in <u>Mills v. State</u> 476 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1985). In <u>Mills</u>, some prior inconsistent statements were used by the defense to impeach a state witness. However, other statements were ruled inadmissible. This Court affirmed that decision holding that cross-examination was critical but, that once the confrontation clause has been satisfied, crossexamination can be limited.

- 17 -

The facts of this case present two additional distinctions from <u>Rock</u>, supra. In <u>Rock</u>, the State moved to exclude the testimony revealed by hypnosis. In this case the <u>defendant</u> was the moving party. Further, in <u>Rock</u>, the United States Supreme Court distinguished the Arkansas Rule from the rule of other states when it said:

Other states that have adopted an exclusionary rule, however, have done so for the testimony of witnesses not for the testimony of the defendant. (Emphasis supplied- by the United States Supreme Court). Rock, 97 L.Ed.2d at p. 50.

Therefore, <u>Rock</u> does not compel admission of <u>witness</u> Brown's hypnotized testimony.

Further, any error regarding the vehicle is totally harmless because from the first interview of the defendant by the Georgia police, the defendant admitted his vehicle might have been there. He claimed only that someone else using the vehicle (R 748).

Further, any error is harmless because the trial judge gave Appellant an option. Since Appellant was the moving party on the motion in limine which caused the hypnosis testimony to be excluded, the trial judge twice offered to allow them to withdraw their motion in limine. He would then allow the crossexamination. The defense made the tactical choice not to do so (R 416, 473). This action waived any objection. You cannot cause testimony to be excluded and object to its exclusion at the same time. See <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974). Invited error is not the basis for reversal.

The trial court's ruling was not error and should be affirmed.

#### ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMIT-TING TESTIMONY REGARDING STATEMENTS WILLIAM BROWN MADE ABOUT THE GRAND PRIX AUTOMOBILE.

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